Running head: SEPARATING EMERGING TECHNOLOGY TRENDS FROM FADS IN THE FACE OF RAPID CHANGE

Separating Emerging Technology Trends from Fads in the Face of Rapid Change

by

Yvonne M. Davis

A Research Paper Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science Degree in

Information Technology

Mihaylo College of Business and Economics

California State University, Fullerton

April, 2009

#### Abstract

Information technology has become such an integral part of commerce that it is nearly impossible to do business without it. New technologies are constantly emerging with the rate of change rising exponentially over time. Making the wrong technology choice can be at best costly or at worst fatal to a company. However, organizations and their leaders have historically poor records of forecasting technology changes. Even companies disrupted by a competing innovator generally have known about the disruptive technology but not recognized it as a threat. With such high stakes, this paper reviews available literature to examine the increasing rate of change in information technology, planning strategies, and methodologies for technology forecasting, with the objective of discovering a possible framework for indentifying significant emerging technologies more quickly and accurately, to separate technology trends from fads. The vast amount of information needed to correlate new technologies with social and economic factors make this task very difficult. Companies will need to devote resources appropriate to their role as technology producers or consumers to more proactive monitoring of emerging technologies. But with monitoring and applying a combination of tools and suggested methodologies, it is possible for organizations to make more accurate forecasts.

3

## CONTENTS

Separating Emerging Technology Trends from Fads in the Face of Rapid Change	4
Introduction	4
Challenge and Objective	4
A History of Information Technology Innovation and Rapid Change	4
Planning for Rapid Change	9
IT and Business Planning	9
IT Planning Strategies	12
Forecasting the Unknown	19
Is a Framework for Improved Trend Identification Possible?	26
Conclusion	28
Appendices	31
Appendix A. Works Cited	31
Appendix B. Bibliography – Other Works Consulted	38

# Separating Emerging Technology Trends from Fads in the Face of Rapid Change Introduction

#### Challenge and Objective

There have always been disruptive technologies. The musket and cannon eliminated the longbow and catapult. The personal computer and word processing did away with the typewriter. Digital photography has replaced an entire industry of chemical photograph developing. The Internet has changed business radically and forever. Keeping up with technical change alone is not sufficient, as evidenced by the failure of the technically superior Betamax. Choosing the right technology at the right time is critical. There continue to be boom and bust cycles in technical innovation. VHS won over Betamax, only in turn to be made obsolete by the DVD. But why did the LaserDisc never catch on at all? The Internet did not eliminate "bricks and mortar" businesses as predicted, but led to "bricks and clicks" models. The rate of change in information technology continues to accelerate. The survival of a business cannot be left to best guesses on what the next trend will be, or whether that trend will turn out only to be a passing fad. This paper examines these challenges by reviewing the history of information technology innovation, the changing role of information technology in business strategy, and related literature to explore whether a framework can be developed to more successfully identify significant technology trends more quickly, and separate them from the "also rans" and temporary fads.

## A History of Information Technology Innovation and Rapid Change

Although the history of information technology could be said to have started when people first picked up stone tools or a burned twig to leave records on stone cliff sides and caves, most regard the beginning of what has become known as the "Information Age" as the 1950's. By then the efforts of World War II decoders at Bletchley Park and ballisticians at the University

<sup>4</sup> 

of Pennsylvania and Aberdeen Ballistics Research Laboratory (Weik, 1961) had led directly to the development of commercial mainframe computers from such companies as IBM, UNIVAC, Burroughs and others. More telling, in 1957 the number of workers whose jobs were concerned primarily with handling information exceeded industrial workers for the first time (McNurlin, Sprague, & Bui, 2009). The United States had passed from the Industrial Age to the Information Age.

With this new age came an explosion in technical innovation. In 2005, Luis Roberto Vega-González measured information technology (IT) as a change driver, using a calculation based on the number of innovations factored on an impact scale of 1 (low) to 3 (high) over a number of years, for a resulting change measurement expressed as a number representing the change in information technology over time or dIT/dt (Vega-González, 2005). The average of the change he measured from 1900 to 1960 was 69. In the next two decades it rose to an average of 103, and continued to rise exponentially.

Ken Anderson (2008) relates that in the 1970's companies recognized the need to create Management Information Systems departments to ensure these expensive assets were effective and available. Commercially written applications, including database management systems, both simplified application development and added the complexity of vendor management and interoperability issues to MIS departments. Richard Nolan (2001) in his Stages Theory of Information Technology Management names this time between 1960 and 1980 as the Data Processing (DP) Era. Anderson goes on to mark it as a turning point in information technology as interoperability required standards, and buying software instead of building it required maintenance and support contracts. Establishing this technology management environment enabled the rapid spread of technology until it became pervasive in business. The downside of widespread adoption was as business became dependent on information technology, MIS departments quickly became backlogged, and business units became less tolerant of the inevitable delays.

The mini-computer provided business units with more local control and faster response in the 1970's and early 1980's, but even greater user control exploded on the scene with the introduction of IBM's "personal computer", or "PC", in 1981. It was not the first "personal computer" (Anderson, 2008), but when unlike its monolithic mainframes, IBM decided to publish the architecture of its PC, it not only engendered a raft of competitors, it launched an industry of compatible hardware and software. That together with the cachet of IBM and the revolutionary personal spreadsheet firmly cemented the PC as a legitimate business machine (Spector, 2006). Business users freed from the control of MIS drove up the number of computers in use from fewer than 90,000 in 1967 to over 30 million by 1986, and at the same time the cost of computer memory dropped from \$2 million/MB to \$144/MB (Fisher, Anthes & Hall, 2006). Nolan marks this as the point of discontinuity between the mainframe DP Era and the Micro Era.

The rate of change continued to accelerate during the 1980's. Vega-González calculates that the change index jumped from 105.84 in the period between 1970 and 1980, to 184.16 in the period between 1980 and 1990 (Vega-González, 2005). Nolan notes that the now "ubiquitous" PC led to changes in organizational structure, breaking down old management hierarchies as workers were not so much replaced by computers as leveraged with them to become more productive, becoming knowledge workers instead of simply automating tasks (Nolan, 2001). More significantly, this period began the transition to a world changing era, the Network Era.

In the 1980's the Defense Department's ARPANET migrated from a government and academic network to first the non-commercial National Science Foundation NSFNet and finally by 1995 to a fully commercialized public world-wide interconnected network, the Internet (Nolan, 2001). The introduction of the World Wide Web, hypertext markup language (HTTP), and web browser software in the early 1990's revolutionized access to information stored on servers around the globe. Alfred Zimmerman as quoted by Nolan described the Internet as growing at 340% annually during that time, with the number of computers connected rising from 80,000 in 1989 to 1.3 million in 1993 to 2.2 million in 1994. Meanwhile, in corporations, the need to share information led to the growth of local area networks first in departmental workgroups and then organization wide through wide area networks. The client/server model began to take hold, with enterprise applications such as ERP that on mainframes had been difficult to integrate with PCs, and network centric applications such as e-mail, calendars, document sharing. A "best of breed", customized and connected environment emerged (Anderson, 2008).

Proprietary, monolithic systems increasingly gave way to "open standards". Corporate networks adopted TCP/IP communication standards and were connected to the Internet, initiating yet another wave of change. At the end of 1995, when the Internet was commercialized, about one-half of the 90,000 sites on the web were commercial. Less than three years later, the number of web sites had exploded to 36.7 million, about one-third of which were commercial (Nolan, 2001). As quoted by Nolan, Ira Magaziner attributed over one-third of the growth in the U. S. economy from 1995 to 1998 to growth in the information technology industry driven by the Internet. Driven by this rising move to an Internet based economy and a convergence of data, voice, graphics and multimedia on Internet the K. G. Coffman and A. M. Odlyzko estimated in 2001 that between the end of 1994 and 1996, Internet backbone traffic grew by approximately 1000%, dropping back to a more modest 100% growth per year after that, a trend which they expect to continue

7

(Coffman & Odlyzko, 2002). Vega-González's IT innovation index numbers confirm this rapid trend, putting the rate of change between 1990 and 2000 at an astounding 534.53.

The ever increasing rate of innovation and change in information technology shows no sign of slowing. Computerworld observed in 2006 that between 1986 and 2006, the number of computers in use had jumped from 30 million to more than 1 billion, while the cost of memory had dropped from \$144/MB to \$0.11/MB (Fisher, 2006). At the same time, the demand for wireless/mobile applications and Internet access is setting the stage for the next information technology innovation upsurge. Recently Jupiter Research predicted that mobile Internet service subscribers would rise from 577 million in 2008 to 1.7 billion by 2013, further predicting that number will represent 50% of total Internet usage (Mobile Internet, 2008). Shown in Figure 1, Vega-González's chart of the rate of information technology change from the distance past to 2000 dramatically demonstrates the rapid acceleration. He extrapolates that the index for 2020 will rise to 40,000. If so, he wonders how people and societies will achieve the required learning and management of so much new technology so quickly.

8



*Figure 1*. Information technology innovation gradient demonstrating rapidly accelerating rate of change (Vega-González, 2005, p.206).

These changes are not just evolutionary, but radical, disruptive technologies, sometimes referred to as "killer applications", or "killer apps". Noel Capon and James Hubert characterize killer apps as "not just [changing] a market or industry, rather [changing] the way society itself works and functions. Moveable type was a killer app. The automobile was a killer app..., it changed the way people live, shop, work, and spend leisure time... and it also changed the physical environment in most countries" (as quoted in Morgan, 2003). They compared similar developments occurring every five to ten years during the Industrial Revolution to multiple new innovations appearing now each year. They see this rate increasing exponentially.

#### Planning for Rapid Change

#### IT and Business Planning

The pace of information technology change makes planning both more critical and more difficult. However, pressed by the increasing demands of the moment, corporate IT was slow to catch on to the fundamental transformation that was occurring. Until the 1990's information

technology was still regarded as a means to an end, a supporting resource for greater efficiency in carrying out the business strategy. Quoting Gartner EXP, McNulin et al (2009) describe traditional planning as business executives creating a strategic business plan, then from that Information Systems (IS) executives formulating their strategic plan describing how IT would support the business plan. Finally, an IT implementation plan would be created from the IS plan. The planning process could take over a year and often covered a five year planning cycle. In 1991 Howard Miller commented that most organizations viewed technology as a cost of doing business, focusing on cost reduction. Long lead times led to frustration and a lack of perception of where technology could benefit the organization to evolve with change, to take advantage of opportunities (Miller, 1991).

By 2000 planning literature began to note the rapidly changing environment. John Benamati and Albert Lederer (2000) specifically studied the management challenges associated with rapid change, quoting Manzoni and Angehrn that the world had been changing so rapidly that no steady state could be imagined, especially in information technology. And that Sanders said changes included "drastic, unpredictable shifts", further noting that the pace of change was accelerating (quoted in Benamati & Lederer, 2000). They concluded that traditional structures could not cope with the demands of this new environment and that new ideas and practices would be required. They attempted to categorize the management challenges to provide a checklist for planning and assessment.

John McCallum postulated in 2001, even after the "dot com bust", that not only information technology, but the nature of business was changing and enterprises must "adapt or die". According to McCallum, "The way in which business is done is turning upside down overnight" (p. 72). The climate of change was so pervasive that even the economy came to be called "the New Economy". McCallum cautioned organizations to make adapting a day to day priority, focus on understanding the business conditions and make the most of opportunity, including restructuring to adapt. Many organizations began to move away from information technology as task automation toward more strategic uses. Nolan (2001) distinguished between Industrial Age companies and Information Age companies by their formal recognition of the importance of information as a resource and its role in adding value to products and services. Nolan used sales per employee (SPE) to measure integration of information technology with business. He reported that as companies moved from DP Era to Micro Era to Network Era practices they increased their SPE at 1.5 times to nearly 29 times the rate of the previous era, with companies putting the most effort into IT enabled features or functions seeming to have higher SPE.

Robert Morgan highlighted the impact of rapid change in 2003, commenting on a chart of management practices from 1922 to 2000, "What is evident . . . is the density of management practices that populate the latter part of this time period. The half-life of management practices since the 1980s appears now to be shorter than ever . . . coming at an exponential rate" (p.38). He warned that Porter's classic "five forces" framework was an industrial model and that organizations must contend with a new "five forces", emerging knowledge-era forces that are "more ambiguous, potent, random, and destructive of previously accepted business models" (p.43). To meet these challenges he stresses the alignment of IT and business strategy and goals. Organizations must have a clearer understanding of the life cycle of new technologies, must develop clear plans for targeting, measuring and replacing technologies. However, two years later, in 2005 Colin Thompson observed that in many organizations, information technology was seen as a service provider, instead of participating in the effective business transformation required in the New Economy. His conclusion was supported by a Gartner survey finding that a typical CIO had less influence on strategy than all executives at similar levels, except human resources directors (Thompson, 2005). He reiterates that IT must now be fully and actively integrated into all stages of business planning to meet today's multiple evolving challenges with the agility that is now required.

Clearly, organizations can no longer afford not to include information technology in all strategy and planning, or the luxury of lengthy planning cycles. Organizations must embrace technology and agile response to rapidly changing conditions to stay competitive. However, with a flood of new developments arriving at an ever increasing rate, no organization can devote resources to all the potential innovations. The major question is how to determine which technologies to follow and which can be safely disregarded.

#### IT Planning Strategies

Many different strategies have been proposed and used for information technology planning. Some are more adaptable than others to the rapidly changing environment that has evolved, and all are subject to the differences in organizational culture, structure, industry and competitive environment. One of the earliest and most enduring is the Stages of Growth theory developed in 1974 by Cyrus Gibson and Richard Nolan (Gibson & Nolan, 1974), based on Nolan's observation of s-shaped learning curves of technology adoption and management of computer resources. In this analysis, planning based on four stages: Initiation, the first experimentation with a new technology; Contagion, uncontrolled rapidly spreading adoption with growing interest; Control, management intervention for cost control and standardization; and Integration, maturity and mastery of the technology in the organization (Nolan, 1973). These stages overlap as new technologies are discovered or developed, and the cycle repeats for each. Nolan used this model to describe the evolution of information technology, with overlapping points of discontinuity between major technology eras. This model is still applicable today, though the curves are closer together than and disruptive technologies can be introduced into the mix at any time.

In 1974 John Rockart developed the Critical Success Factors (CSF) method to assess information needs for executives (McNurlin et al., 2009, p. 147). This method is still widely applied not only in information technology, but other business areas. Although each executive's success factors depend on the unique industry, the organization's position in that industry, economic and market trends, and any current organizational issues, Rockart also found four common factors: service, effective and efficient performance together with the perception of users and management; communication, two-way understanding the environment and needs of key users and their understanding of the information systems environment; human resources, development, management and retention of quality technical personnel; and repositioning the information systems function, from hardware and systems "back office" provider to involvement in all aspects of the business (Rockart, 1982). Rockart was particularly perceptive of the role of information technology in the widespread changes taking place as early as the 1980's. He stressed the need for the integration of information technology in the overall business and particularly strategic business planning. In 1984 he and Adam Crescenzi expanded the CSF concept with the addition of decision scenarios and prototyping (Rockart & Crescenzi, 1984). The combination of these concepts has the potential to allow quick response to changing conditions.

Another advocate of scenario planning, Peter Schwartz, following up on his original 1992 treatise, "The Long View", described scenario planning as a means of managing the risk of an unknown future that can lead decision makers from the bias of a preferred scenario to consider other options (Schwartz, 2000). More to the point for trend-spotting is that through developing scenarios, Schwartz maintains decision makers can be trained to be more sensitive to new signals of change, with more timely recognition in spite of the flood of information; "What has not been foreseen is unlikely to be seen in time." (p.2). Scenario planning helps organizations move forward while maintaining links between the organization's perception and the external environment, allowing them to be more agile and better prepared for either the fad or the trend.

No discussion of strategy would be complete without Michael Porter's Five Forces. These are forces which, according to Porter, businesses must analyze to understand the industry, the environment and competition: the threat of new entrants, bargaining power of suppliers, bargaining power of customers, threat of substitutes, and rivalry among existing competitors (Porter, 2008). While Porter has used his framework to analyze the Internet (Porter, 2001), believing that despite digitization there is no fundamental change in the rules of competition, this framework provides little guidance in our goal of distinguishing emerging "killer apps" from fleeting fads. As noted by Morgan, many believe that new forces shape the New Economy. Larry Downes and Chunka Mui argued just this point in 1996, calling for a "digital strategy" that specifically accounts for the disruptive force of technology. They advocated continuous experimentation and response over multi-year prediction and planning. They defined the new forces as digitization, globalization, deregulation and "killer apps" (Downes & Mui, 1998). This strategy is in closer alignment with identifying trend-setting emerging technologies. However, Porter's power of customers force also remains a critical factor.

Similarly, Jeffrey Rayport and John Sviokla warned as early as 1994 that the "information revolution" was transforming the creation and realization of economic value. They focused on the transition from "marketplace" to "marketspace". The keys to strategy in the new marketspace were to note how competition handles the transition, and to discover and act on new opportunities (Rayport & Sviokla, 1994). Different industries and positions in an industry dictate different strategies such as context-focused or infrastructure based. While not providing guidance on emerging technologies, this framework could help identify possible opportunities and how to incorporate them into the business strategy.

Another strategy mentioned by McNurlin et al (2009) in their case studies is the netreadiness evaluation practiced by Cisco. Developed by Amir Hartman and John Sifonis (2000), directors in Cisco's Internet business and strategy groups, it is designed to build a strategy for ecommerce using the Internet for competitive advantage. Based on Cisco's principles of quick and ruthless execution on opportunities, emphasizing metrics, opportunities driven by customer focus, and with a target of producing results within three months, it could be a strategy complimentary to identifying and acting on new trends. Every part of the business must be accountable for thinking in terms of "E-conomy". Projects are managed in an e-business portfolio matrix. F. Warren McFarlan first introduced managing information systems projects and investments as a portfolio, much like other investments, in 1981. He proposed a similar matrix evaluation of information systems investments (see Figure 2). Cisco has modified this matrix to concentrate on e-business value (see Figure 3).

	Low Strategic importance of HIGH individual applications in the High predicted <b>future</b> competitive environment		
High			
Strategic Importance of individual applications in the <b>current</b> competitive environment Low	KEY OPERATIONAL Current IT important but future developments unlikely to improve competitive advantage	STRATEGIC Existing and future IT developments are critical to success	
	SUPPORT IT needed to support the business but of little strategic value	HIGH POTENTIAL Existing IT is unimportant. Future IT developments are critical but value not confirmed	

Figure 2. McFarlan's strategic IT investment evaluation grid (adapted from McFarlan, 1981)

	Low	Newness	of Idea	High
High				
Criticality to Business Low	Operational	excellence	Breakthrough strategy	
	New funda	amentals	Rational experimentation	

Figure 3. Cisco's e-business value matrix (adapted from McNurlin et al., 2009, p. 156)

At the same time McCallum was warning organizations to "adapt or die", Brian Burke of the Meta Group also advised organizations to evaluate technology strategies in the light of the increasing impact of disruptive technologies (Burke, 2001). Noting that only 5% of Global 2000 companies included technology adoption in strategy and planning, he predicted that by 2005, 20% would do not only do so, but establish a technology watch function. The specific strategy depends on the organization's technology adoption profile, e.g., bleeding edge, leading edge, early or late adopters, and their risk profile. However, the crux of the problem remains understanding how a technology will change the market and what impact it will have. Burke suggests assessing risk and reward against the impact of a disruptive technology in selecting an appropriate strategy, as illustrated in Figure 4.



*Figure 4*. Disruptive technology impact assessment; quadrants show areas to assess and evaluate to determine value and risk in developing a strategy to counter or adopt a disruptive technology (Burke, 2001, copyright 2001 META Group)

Up until now, most strategies have stressed agility and adaption to counter or preferably take advantage of rapid or disruptive change. Citing the examples of Google, Facebook and Salesforce.com, most recently John Hagel, John Seely Brown and Lang Davison have argued that adaptation and the "sense and respond" approach that gained popularity in the 1990's (McNurlin et al., 2009) is no longer sufficient, that it risks missing opportunities. Some companies have become "shapers", enlisting other participants in a strategy to shape the economic environment into a new market or industry. This strategy is reminiscent of Porter's value chain strategy (McNurlin et al., 2009, p. 152), but broadened beyond the industrial, product origin of Porter's model. Salesforce.com used the growing power of customers and digitization to deliver applications as networked based services, and in less than 10 years achieved an \$8 billion market capitalization (Hagell III, Brown, & Davison, 2008). Google connects advertisers, content providers and customers with AdSense, providing massive scale to even small websites and advertisers to their mutual benefit (Hagell III et al., 2008). This new view of strategy extends beyond the boundaries of an organization, to form an ecosystem of shapers and participants. Hagel et al outline a process of "FAST thinking": Focus, Accelerate, Strengthen and Tie it all together (p.87). Through scenario planning, initiatives are selected to enlist participants and move toward a preferred future in an incremental, iterative way, taking short steps to achieve the longer view. The long view is still important, since it disruption is almost constant, without the intervening equilibrium that once allowed first movers to consolidate their advantage. Without that protection, Hagel et al warn that new shaping strategies will be required constantly, since "disequilibrium" is now the rule.

#### Forecasting the Unknown

Market forces moving at "Internet speed" have compelled organizations to recognize that any business strategy must be concerned with rapidly changing information technologies; that they must be prepared to respond with agility and speed. No strategy will be 100% successful, but the more accurate the foresight, the better the chances for success. Therefore, the major issue in addressing rapid change and disruptive technologies is accurately forecasting them. But how do you predict the unknown? And how does a market leader possibly challenge its own offerings by exploring disruptive technologies that serve as of yet undefined future customer needs? This is what Clayton Christensen dubbed the "innovator's dilemma" in 1997 (Christensen, 2006).

Christensen (2006) attributes part of the difficulty in recognizing disruptive trends to organizations and their management having most experience in "sustaining" technology. They work in markets with known customer needs and pursue incremental improvements in products or services: better performance or new features. It can lead to what Jay Paap and Ralph Katz (2004) refer to as the "tyranny of success", in which market leaders seeking to protect their positions miss the signals of change and instead lose their advantage to a new market entry. First mover advantage evaporates under these circumstances. According to research reported by Paap and Katz, 50% of market pioneers failed and the mean market share of pioneers was only 10%. Their mean period of market leadership was only five years, and they maintained leadership in only 11% of categories over time. That means that these innovators themselves are failing to forecast the significance of change. Traditional forecasting models that may be well suited to predicting demand for current technology are clearly unsuited for identifying new trends, let alone sifting the trends from the fads.

Although it seems that disruptive technologies appear suddenly from nowhere, Christensen (2005) reports that in every case studied, companies displaced by disruptive innovations knew about the new technology, but dismissed its importance. So it would seem predictive information exists, if you knew where to look and how to correlate the data. Just as companies use data mining to uncover patterns in their customers and products, data mining and knowledge management have been suggested to uncover technology trends and identify potentially disruptive technologies. The nature of an emerging technology means that there is little specific history to research. Extrapolation from other data must be used. One method is to search and correlate data from patents and bibliometrics to replace missing historical data, and then combine with expert data, modeling, and scenarios (Daim, Rueda, Martin, & Gerdsri, 2006). Long used to guide research and development (R&D) efforts, the pattern of patent filings can show where investment in development is most active. Because most patents do not result in commercial products, this data is only useful in broad terms. Bibliometrics has been used by researchers to find patterns in academic data, and can similarly be used to uncover patterns of interest in technology or consumer behavior. Daim et al demonstrate possible scenarios for fuel cell adoption using bibliometric investigation to consider economic pressures, developmental stage (lifecycle position), penetration with automobile manufactures, population and vehicle purchase trends, and governmental policies. System dynamics were then used to explore possible models. Other examples were food safety technology and optical disk storage using patent trend analysis. Integrating data mining in this way with other methodologies may improve forecasting, but it is a very complex and arduous process. Recognizing this, these researchers suggest defining different combinations of methodologies for different phases of research, such as data collection, relationship building and diffusion (adoption) study/forecasting. This approach is still

theoretical, and its efficacy has yet to be determined. The time to structure and complete this analysis could have serious implications for an organization's ability to identify a trend and respond in a timely fashion.

On the other hand, Marc Henselweski, Stefan Smolnik and Gerold Riempp (2006) report that extensive research has shown that data mining has not benefited forecasting accuracy. They point out that intense competition created by rapid globalization, the increasing rate of innovation leading to short lifecycles, and other new emerging issues puts heavy pressure on the need for better forecasting. Data mining can still be used to help analyze the huge amount of data referenced to define a forecast problem and later monitor results, but other tools are required to manage information in context, which grows in complexity in the forecast process. Topic maps allow the management of large amounts of information, generating new knowledge by also managing its meaning (Garshal, 2002, in (Henselewski, Smolnik, & Riempp, 2006). However, because topic maps require some knowledge of the domain, they suggest information retrieval technology to generate the topic map, which is then used to organize, classify and analyze the information. The topic map can be reused as the technology and its implications are further developed. One challenge to this methodology is the maintenance of the map. New developments must be monitored and added to maintain its relevance. Once established, the profile developed with this method, if properly set up, monitored and maintained, could provide timely knowledge about emerging technology.

Ronald Kostoff, Robert Boylan and Gene Simons (2004) also suggest text mining in conjunction with a roadmap planning strategy. Roadmaps are common in both technology developing and technology consuming organizations to plan longer term technology development or adoption. They reiterate findings that successful companies not only favor lowrisk short term gains from sustaining technologies, but that the increasingly common extensive, large committee based technology selection discourages disruptive technology selection and precludes agility. This prejudice must be changed for successful forecasting. One gap in their method is the actual identification of a problem to be solved or opportunity. Once that is identified, text mining is used to define the problem/opportunity and related technologies. Technologies can be further broken down into components which are also researched. Component technologies imply that a shaping strategy or ecosystem approach could be combined with this method. Given the example of traffic gridlock, literature would be mined for all types of traffic, all types of traffic congestion, all types of technology that could be used to move objects or people, and other directly and indirectly related topics revealed by the analysis. The results are filtered by experts and presented as candidates for evaluation by traditional roadmap processes (Kostoff, Boylan, & Simons, 2004). A second possible gap is the selection of the experts and their filtering process, which comprise the actual forecasting basis.

In another approach to the forecasting problem, a process theory based approach is used to relate the complex interaction between components, products, and infrastructure in a "technology ecosystem" (Adomavicius, Bockstedt, Gupta, & Kauffman R, 2008). Similar to the shaping strategy, Adomavicius et al built on research modeling the concept that technologies are comprised of systems or populations whose characteristics change and interact over time, forming complex systems that can be hierarchically organized. Technologies are assigned roles as "components" which are combined into "products" and supported by infrastructure that add value to the products they support. "Paths of influence" are traced between technologies to indicate their influence on each other in the evolution of the ecosystem. Similar to the previous methodologies, literature is scanned for the technologies relating to the target. For example, for digital music, information was gathered on flash storage, LCD screens, MP3 players, digital music services and so on (Adomavicius et al., 2008). Roles were assigned and paths of influence developed. Frequency computations on changes in standard specifications were used in another case as quantitative instead of qualitative information. Patent data could be used as well. As shown in Figure 5, 3x3 matrixes of current roles versus future roles between components, products and infrastructure were converted to state diagrams for pattern analysis. Interpreting the patterns provides possible forecasts for that ecosystem, such as new high density, small form factor storage resulting in the introduction and adoption of digital music services.

	Component Future State	Product Future State	Infrastructure Future
	(C*)	(P*)	State (I*)
	Component Evolution.	Design and Compilation.	Standards and
	Examples: Moore's law	Examples: Combining of	Infrastructure
Component	and the continual	new touch screen	Development.
Present State	improvement of	components and hand	Examples: The
(C)	microprocessor	writing recognition	development of IEEE
	performance.	software to create tablet	802.11 standards for
		PCs.	wireless components.
	Product-Driven Component	Product Integration and	Diffusion and Adoption.
	Development.	Evolution.	Examples: Widespread
Product	Examples: New designs	Examples: Integration of	adoption of personal
Present State	for smart phones and PDAs	PDA and mobile phone	computers helps drive
(P)	driving development of	to create the smart phone	high-speed internet
	higher capacity flash-based	for personal computing.	service development.
	storage components.		
	Infrastructure-Driven	Infrastructure-	Support Evolution.
	Component Development.	Leveraging Product	Examples: Continual
	Examples: Internet and	Development.	improvement of
Infrastructure	broadband infrastructure	Examples: Internet-	networking infrastructure,
Present State	helps drive development of	optimized PC designs	such as gigabit Ethernet
(I)	wireless chipsets and	and smart phones	and fiber optics
	multimedia optimized	designed to utilize the	
	processors.	broadband wireless	
		services.	

Figure 5. Roles and paths of influence in a technology ecosystem (adapted from Adomavicius

et al, 2008)

Bruce Vojack and Frank Chambers proposed a similar methodology, termed "SAILS" for "standards, architectures, integration, linkages and substitutions" (Vojak & Chambers, 2004). It similarly looks at interrelated standards, notably changes in standards, different means of serving the same function with different architectures, combinations of subsystems to form new systems or subsystems, linkages as expressed in value chain relationships, and the threat or instantiation of substitutions. It shares the same deficiency as many of the methodologies presented in that it neither identifies methods or tools for uncovering the SAILS information, nor identification of a target technology to which to apply the analysis. It depends on having a candidate target and assumes a separate information research methodology.

Although the "ecosystem" approach looks promising, especially as more analysts and researchers are realizing the impact of ripple effects from one technology change to others, there are three problems evident with this model. First, a target must be assumed. The model does provide a means of detecting changes in ecosystems. The researchers note the need to extend this research with other research to form a more proactive orientation. Secondly, it is technologically deterministic, that is, it postulates the primacy of technological development, that technological development drives social and cultural change, not vice versa. Adomavicius et al recognize the impact of social forces and the argument for social construction of technology (SCOT) theories, but assume these forces are contained in the model by virtue of the mix comprising an ecosystem. Additionally, while they hope to include more of these social drivers in a later, more comprehensive refinement, they have restricted the model to only technical roles and relationships to reduce complexity. That complexity is the third problem with this model. The researchers also assume that this methodology will be used by domain experts to inform others. In interviews conducted across a range of forecasting experts, analysts and senior executives to

gauge the potential usefulness of the methodology, most appreciated the clarity of the results, but felt that the methodology would most likely be used by experts presenting analysis to clients, either internally or services such as Gartner or Forrester (Adomavicius et al., 2008).

The drawbacks of the otherwise promising ecosystem model bring up a fundamental issue: is the adoption of technology driven by technical factors or social ones? Christensen and his collaborators hypothesize that predicting change is not about the technology, it is about adoption. Innovation is created when a technology connects with a need, giving the technology value. Technology creates a change in process, materials or functionality. The perceived value of that change Paap and Katz (2004) refer to as "leverage". Changes with the greatest leverage become drivers in a market. However, over time, improvements in that technology lose value with consumers and reach a "leverage limit" where they are no longer willing to pay for improvements. Without understanding that limit, incumbents listen to customer feedback and innovate in improvements to existing offerings in ways their customers have historically valued, in sustaining technologies. This type of innovation maintains their supremacy in that offering. However, Christensen, Anthony, Paap and Katz point out that disruptive technologies are often not "better" than the technology they replace, they are cheaper, easier to use and "good enough". They meet needs that customers may not express. In this case, the new entrant dominates. In the digital music example, Adomavicius concludes that MP3 compression enabled software programs to record and store music, which in turn enabled MP3 players, leading to the popularity of digital music. Then, the development of compact hard drives drove the adoption of players such as the iPod, which in turn drove the development of digital music services (Adomavicius et al., 2008). In 2004 Paap and Katz saw the move from CD-ROM to DVD as a result of demand for greater storage for archival storage, not the reverse as Adomavicius argues. The driver, more

storage, was the same, the technology changed (Paap & Katz, 2004). Anthony and Christensen saw in 2005 that while companies were producing higher and higher quality compact disks, the technology had overshot "good enough". MP3 provided lower audio quality, but "good enough," allowed greater convenience, was reusable and more portable, and disrupted CD players. The demand for customized MP3 selections drove the creation of digital music services that are replacing CD sales. Sony and the Walkman were out, Apple and the iPod were in.

Technology substitution takes place when either the technology or the driver matures, or a new driver arises (Paap & Katz, 2004). In the case of a mature technology, it may have reached not only its leverage limit, but no further significant improvement can be made. The higher risk is a mature driver. It is here that Anthony and Christensen (2005) point out that most incumbents "overshoot" their market. The technology still meets the need; there are still improvements that can be made. The inclination is to try to sell the improvements for the "best", higher spending customers but little return will be realized from the investment. The new driver is likely to come from either price or convenience, especially from ignored "less desirable" customers for whom the current technology was too expensive or too difficult (Anthony & Christensen, 2005). The replacement driver may not be immediately known until customers with those unmet needs encounter it, setting the stage for disruption. Lastly, the environment may change. It could be regulatory, economic, or another technology. As an example, Whirlpool noticed Burlington Industries' development of a new wash and wear fabric, developed a washer with a "cool down" cycle tailored for the fabric and surprised competitors.

Is a Framework for Improved Trend Identification Possible?

Given the accelerating rate of change in information technology and shortening cycles of development and innovation, can emerging technologies be detected and evaluated in time to

avoid either investing in the wrong technology or being disrupted by a competitor? The key would appear to be monitoring both the technology and the behavior of consumers. What technologies have "overshot" their market? Are there indications of unmet needs, the "undershot" market that is scooping up innovations searching for a solution? Are there what Anthony and Christensen (2005) call "non-consumers" who can't afford the technology, need an intermediary to use it, or have limited access? These conditions signal an opening for an emerging technology. The technology landscape must be continually scanned for candidates that could meet these needs. If a candidate does not meet all or most needs for its use, it will not become a trend. Still, making a connection between a technology and a need is not enough. Does the innovator have the resources (economic, process and management) to compete? Is the innovator prepared for competition? Who are the competitors? Which has the better strategy and is better prepared? If these questions can be answered, there is a good chance to identify a potentially successful trend and ignore a fad in the making.

Of the methodologies that have been explored, a combination of tools and techniques are required. None is sufficient on its own. The sheer volume of information, continually growing as change piles upon change makes it virtually impossible to cover every emerging technology. The US Patent and Trademark Office patent grant image database alone is currently over 4.5 terabytes. Correspondence history for patents adds another 33 terabytes (Melvin, 2008). In 2004, storage vendor Infinite Options estimated that US academic research libraries consumed approximately 2 petabytes of storage. The amount of resources an organization can devote to technology monitoring will depend on the organization's industry, environment, culture and resources. An organization that is primarily a consumer of technology will have very different monitoring requirements than an organization that is technology or research oriented (Nosella,

Petroni, & Salandra, 2008). Nosella et al found that, predictably, the more an organization invests in R&D, the likelier it is to engage proactively in systematic and sophisticated technology monitoring.

There are common elements that could characterize a general framework, though. At whatever level an organization chooses to monitor emerging technologies, the volume of information dictates some information retrieval and filtering tool. Patent information, academic research, market information, economic and other contextual factors must be included. This complex and high volume information research suggests some sort of text and data mining tool. Some automation may be possible with query agents or "bots" to trigger notifications if search conditions flag a candidate technology for further inquiry. The resulting information should be subjected to analysis using ecosystem or SAILS type methodology that has been extended to include the social construction drivers, leverage, overshot/undershot/non-consumer, and other social/cultural constructs.

#### Conclusion

No organization can expect to be completely successful forecasting the future of information technology. The unknown can only be guessed; until it happens the future is still unknown. The only data available are from the past, which has often led forecasters to dismally inaccurate conclusions. However, the signs are discoverable. It is possible to improve forecasting accuracy, to distinguish a trend from a fad. In every case studied, disruptive technologies were known before displacing an incumbent. An organization can increase the odds of successful prediction by instituting and maintaining systematic technology monitoring on a scale appropriate to its technology role.

However, with globalization and other factors increasing the magnitude and rate of change, the volume and complexity of information that needs to be considered will make it difficult for all but very large organizations that can afford to devote substantial resources to evaluate and respond to emerging technologies in a timely fashion. Further, technology developing organizations must pay close attention to changing market conditions, especially unmet needs and technology changes that can create leverage for new drivers. Both technology developing and consuming organizations must recognize and beware of technology that has exceeded its leverage and is overshooting the market.

An opportunity exists for commercial and academic information providers to create services to track the global environment and technical information using techniques such as data mining marketing databases, demographic data, economic data, social trend data and patent applications. It is the scale of this information retrieval and analysis that is so daunting for average organizations and so challenging to keep current. Sharing the cost of collating and maintaining this information through subscription services could make tracking emerging technologies and the factors influencing their adoption more effective than traditional ad hoc data gathering and lengthy planning cycles. Research firms such as Gartner, Forrester Research, IDC, AMR Research, Aberdeen, Burton Group and others already make a business of information technology prediction. Their analysis and predictions could be greatly improved by objective data retrieval and application of methodologies as suggested by Adomavicius, Paap, Christensen and others noted in this study. Data mining services could also be made available directly to clients. Much of the relevant data already exist in academic libraries which could provide data retrieval and data mining services directly to subscribers and researchers as well. Regardless of how they obtain the data, organizations need to make greater use of environmental and technological information scanning, closely monitoring the technical and market environment. Ecosystem, SAILS, bibliometric or similar methodologies should be used for trend analysis, with the results providing input to shaping strategies either as a shaper or participant, including roadmaps for technology development and/or adoption. Both technical and business plans must be revisited far more frequently than in the past to avoid surprise and a costly mistake of missing the next trend or backing the next fad instead. It is possible to better identify true trends and separate them from the flash of fads. It will require dedication of resources, but it must become as necessary to businesses as current planning and competitive market analysis activities.

### Appendices

Appendix A. Works Cited

Adomavicius, G., Bockstedt, J., Gupta, A., & Kauffman R. (2008). Making sense of technology trends in the information technology landscape: a design science approach. *Mios Quarterly*, 32(4), 779-809. Retrieved from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/</u>

login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=34960502&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehostlive&scope=site

- Anderson, K. (2008). Innovation: a brief history of Information Technology. In *Executive Advisory Program* (Technology thread: management). Midvale, UT: Burton Group.
- Anthony, S., & Christensen, C. (2005, March). How you can benefit by predicting change. *Financial Executive*, 21(2), 36-44. Retrieved March 13, 2009, from <u>http://</u> <u>proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u>

pqdlink?did=807551861&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

Benamati, J., & Lederer, A. (2000). Rapid change: Nine information technology management challenges. *Infor*, 38(4), 336-358. Retrieved March 9, 2009, from <u>http://</u> <u>proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u>

pqdweb?did=66088631&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

Burke, B. (2001, May 11). Selecting technology adoption strategies. *Enterprise Planning & Architecture Series, Meta Group, File 120*. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <a href="http://www.mitforumcambridge.org/spring02/resources/TechnologyAdoption.pdf">http://www.mitforumcambridge.org/spring02/resources/TechnologyAdoption.pdf</a>

- Christensen, C. (2006). Discovering new and emerging markets. In *The Innovator's Dilemma: When New Technologies Cause Great Firms to Fail* (pp. 1-17). Boston: Harvard Business
  School Press. (Original work published 1997)
- Coffman, K., & Odlyzko, A. (2002). Internet growth: Is there a "Moore's Law" for data traffic?
  In J. Abello, P. Pardalos, & M. Resende (Eds.), *Handbook of Massive Data Sets* (pp. 47-93). Retrieved March 24, 2009, from <u>http://www.dtc.umn.edu/~odlyzko/doc/</u>
  <u>internet.moore.pdf</u>
- Daim, T., Rueda, G., Martin, H., & Gerdsri, P. (2006). Forecasting emerging technologies: use of bibliometrics and patent analysis. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *73*(8), 981-1015. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-4KPX8P0-1/2/3006c98e05225c5e227d085104d5dddc">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-4KPX8P0-1/2/3006c98e05225c5e227d085104d5dddc</a>
- Downes, L., & Mui, C. (1998). The end of strategy. *Strategy & Leadership*, *26*(5), 4-9. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u> <u>pqdlink?did=36412727&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD</u>
- Fisher, S., Anthes, G., & Hall, M. (2006, May 22). The top 10 IT developments of the past 20 years. *Computerworld*, 2000. Retrieved March 8, 2009, from <a href="http://www.computerworld.com/action/article.do?command=viewArticleBasic&articleId">http://www.computerworld.com/action/article.do?command=viewArticleBasic&articleId</a> <a href="http://www.selfatticle.do?command=viewArticleBasic&articleId">http://www.selfatticleBasic&articleId</a> <a href="http://w

live&scope=site

Hagell III, J., Brown, J., & Davison, L. (2008). Shaping strategy in a world of constant disruption. *Harvard Business Review*, 86(10), 80-89. Retrieved March 8, 2009, from <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=34402640&loginpage=Login.a">http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=34402640&loginpage=Login.a</a>

sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Hartman, A., & Sifonis, J. (2000). Executive summary of "Net ready strategies for success in the e-conomy" [Cisco IBSG whitepaper]. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <u>http://</u> www.cisco.com/warp/public/779/ibs/netreadiness/netready\_es3.pdf
- Henselewski, M., Smolnik, S., & Riempp, G. (2006). Evaluation of knowledge management technologies for the support of technology forecasting. *Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (Vol. 7, p. 154c). Kauai, HI: Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Computer Society.
- Infinite Options. (2004, December 2). *How data is defined*. Retrieved March 31, 2009, from http://www.infiniteoptions.net/modules.php?name=Content&pa=showpage&pid=8
- Kostoff, R., Boylan, R., & Simons, G. (2004). Disruptive technology roadmaps. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 71(1-2), 141-159. Retrieved March 9, 2009, from <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-48XD9K9-2/2/ef25af241208dceb17aeaa3e6e838186">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-48XD9K9-2/2/ef25af241208dceb17aeaa3e6e838186</a>

McCallum, J. (2001). Adapt or die. *Ivey Business Journal*, *6*(2). Retrieved March 26, 2009, from http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/

pqdweb?did=66088631&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

McFarlan, F. (1981). Portfolio approach to information systems. *Harvard Business Review*, 59(5), 142-150. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u>

login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=3867960&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehostlive&scope=site

- McNurlin, B., Sprague, R., & Bui, T. (2009). Information Systems Management in the Global Economy. In *Information systems Management in Practice* (8th ed., pp. 4-6). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Melvin, K. (October 14, 2008). The changing world of search and information access at the USPTO (20<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Trends for Scientific Information Professionals (ICIC), pp. 1-18). Retrieved March 31, 2009, from <u>http://www.infonortics.com/chemical/ ch08/slides/melvin.pdf</u>
- Miller, H. (1991). Information technology: creation or evolution. *Journal of Systems Management, 42*(4). Retrieved March 4, 2009, from <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=591904&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309& <u>VName=PQD</u>

Mobile Internet users to top 1.7 billion by 2013. (2008, June 25). *Cellular-News*. Retrieved March 24, 2009, from <u>http://www.cellular-news.com/story/32026.php?source=newsletter</u>

Morgan, R. (2003). Information technology: second-class citizen or strategy partner? *The Journal of Business Strategy*, 24(6), 38-45. Retrieved March 26, 2009, from <a href="http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=522127351&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNa">http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=522127351&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNa</a>

me=PQD

- Nolan, R. (1973). Managing the computer resource: a stage hypothesis. *Communications of the ACM*, *16*(7), 399-405. Retrieved March 5, 2009 from <u>http://doi.acm.org.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/10.1145/362280.362284
- Nolan, R. (2001). *Information technology management from 1960-2000* (9-301-147). Boston: Harvard Business School.
- Nosella, A., Petroni, G., & Salandra, R. (2008). Technological change and technology monitoring process: Evidence from four Italian case studies. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 25(4), 321-337. Retrieved March 30, 2009, from http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VF3-4TSC3WV-2/2/ ca87a8c57155a6160b24a50838a799d2
- Paap, J., & Katz, R. (2004). Anticipating disruptive innovation. *Research Technology Management*, 47(5), 13-22. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=686340471&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD</u>
- Porter, M. (2001). Strategy and the Internet. *Harvard Business Review*, 79(3), 62-78. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u> <u>login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=4147416&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-</u> <u>live&scope=site</u>
- Porter, M. (2008). The five competitive forces that shape strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 86(1), 78-93. Retrieved March 29, 2008, from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=28000138&loginpage=Login.a <u>sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>

Rayport, J., & Sviokla, J. (1994). Managing in the marketspace. *Harvard Business Review*, 72(6), 141-150. Retrieved from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</u> <u>login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=9411155375&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-</u> <u>live&scope=site</u>

Rockart, J., & Crescenzi, A. (1984). Engaging top management in Information Technology. *Sloan Management Review*, 25(4). Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <u>http://</u> proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/

pqdlink?did=66023740&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

Rockart, J. (1982). The changing role of the information systems executive: a critical success factors perspective. *Sloan Management Review*, 24(1). Retrieved March 28, 2009, from <a href="http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/">http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/</a>

pqdlink?did=66023600&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

Schwartz, P. (2000, May 2). The official future, self-delusion, and the value of scenarios. *Financial Times [Surveys edition]*, p.2. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from <a href="http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/">http://</a> proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/

pqdweb?did=53324314&Fmt=3&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD

Spector, L. (2006, August 11). The IBM Personal Computer's 25th anniversary. *PC World*, *ID126671*. Retrieved March 16, 2009, from <u>http://www.pcworld.com/article/126671/</u> the ibm\_personal\_computers\_25th\_anniversary.html

Thompson, C. (2005). IT must change in step with the business. *Computer Weekly, July 2005*. Retrieved March 9, 2009 from <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=882314661&sid=6&Fmt=4&clientId=17846&RQT=30 <u>9&VName=PQD</u>
- Vega-González, L. (2005). Innovation rate of change measurement part 1: information technology (IT). *Journal of Applied Research and Technology*, 3(003). Retrieved March 8, 2009, from <u>http://redalyc.uaemex.x/redalc/pdf/474/47430304.pdf</u>
- Vojak, B., & Chambers, F. (2004). Roadmapping disruptive technical threats and opportunities in complex, technology-based systems: The SAILS methodology. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *71*(1-2), 121-139. Retrieved March 13, 2009, from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-48WJVKK-1/2/</u> e8d412c8220bfdf292a97c6c4546c332
- Weik, M. (1961). The ENIAC story. *Journal of the American Ordnance Association, January-February*. Retrieved from <u>http://ftp.arl.mil/~mike/comphist/eniac-story.html</u>

Appendix B. Bibliography – Other Works Consulted

Adomavicius, G. (2008). Understanding evolution in technology ecosystems. Communications of the ACM Oct2008, 51(10), 117-122. Retrieved February 13, 2009, from <a href="http://content.epnet.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/ContentServer.asp?T=P& P=AN&</a>
 <u>K=34540768&</u>
 <u>EbscoContent=dGJyMNXb4kSeprI4y9fwOLCmrlGeqK5Srqu4TbeWxWXS&</u>

ContentCustomer=dGJyMPGut1CyqbVOuePfgeyx%2BEu3q64A& D=buh

Austin, R., and Nolan, R. (2005). In Search of the Next "Killer App". MIT Sloan Management Review, 46(4), 96. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database.

(Document ID: 867704231). http://proquest.umi.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?Ver=1&Exp=03-06-

2014&FMT=7&DID=867704231&RQT=309&clientId=17846

- Battaglia, G. (1991). Strategic information planning: A corporate necessity. Journal of Systems Management, 42(2), 23. Retrieved March 4, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 591886). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=591886&sid=2&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309& <u>VName=PQD</u>
- Bell, M., Berry, M., & van Roekel, J. (2006, April). Translating geek speak and exploring tech trends. Library Media Connection, 24(7), 56-58. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from Academic Search Premier database.

Benjamin, R. (1982, June). Information technology in the 1990s: A long range planning scenario.
 MIS Quarterly, 6(2), 11-31. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from Business Source Premier database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u>

proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=4679238&loginpage=Login.as p&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Boese, A. (2008, March). Electrocybertronics. Smithsonian, 38(12), 112-112. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from Academic Search Premier database.

http://web.ebscohost.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/ehost/detail?vid=2&hid=2&sid=e7e972da-6c73-4f64-be97-

2bb7ecca2721%40sessionmgr7&bdata=JmxvZ2lucGFnZT1Mb2dpbi5hc3Amc2l0ZT1la

G9zdC1saXZlJnNjb3BlPXNpdGU%3d#db=aph&AN=30066169

- Boynton, A. and Zmud, R. (1987, March). Information technology planning in the 1990's:
  Directions for practice and research. MIS Quarterly, 11(1) 59-71. Retrieved February 11, 2009, from <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/248826">http://www.jstor.org/stable/248826</a>
- Brown, J. (2002, August). Research that reinvents the corporation. Harvard Business Review, 80(8), 105-115. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from Business Source Premier database. <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-">http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</a>

 $proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh\&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh&AN=7157250\&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx?direct=true\&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Login.aspx}direct=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=Loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&loginpage=true&db=buh&AN=7157250&lo$ 

p&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Brynjolfsson, E., and Hitt, L. (2000). Beyond computation: Information technology, organizational transformation and business performance. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 14(4), 23-48. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from ABI/INFORM
Global database. <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u>
proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=64979582&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNam
e=PQD

Cetron, M., and Davies, O. (2008, May). Trends Shaping Tomorrow's World. Futurist, 42(3), 35-50. Retrieved February 11, 2009, from Military & Government Collection database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=mth&AN=31535417&loginpage=Login.</u>

asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Christensen, C. (2005, December). Riding the waves of disruptive change. ElectronicEngineering Times: Great Minds, Great Ideas, 9-10. Retrieved March 31, 2009, fromABI/INFORM Trade & Industry database. (Document ID: 948913901).

http://proquest.umi.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=948913901&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNa me=PQD

Corso, M., Pellegrini, L. (2007, December). Continuous and discontinuous innovation:
Overcoming the innovator dilemma. Creativity & Innovation Management, 16 (4), 333-347. Retrieved March 9, 2009 from <a href="http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=27608406&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site">http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=27608406&loginpage=Login.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site</a> Coxe, D. (2003, January). Too much information. Maclean's, 116(3), 32. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 279064611). http://proquest.umi.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=279064611&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNa me=PQD

Erevelles, S., Horton, V., and Fukawa, N. Imagination in marketing. Marketing Management Journal; Fall2007, 17(2), 109-119. Retrieved March 8, 2009 from

http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=30756124&loginpage=Login.a sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Farrell, D. (2003, October). The real new economy, preview. Harvard Business Review, 81(10), 104-112, Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <a href="http://web.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/ehost/pdf?vid=4&hid=22&sid=816f72a0-de19-4049-9baa-1dbed90eee7a%40sessionmgr3">http://web.ebscohost.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/ehost/pdf?vid=4&hid=22&sid=816f72a0-de19-4049-9baa-1dbed90eee7a%40sessionmgr3</a>
- Fisher, K. J. (1998) Matrix method for the strategic planning of technology programs. Journal of Engineering Technology v. 15(2), 8-11. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from <u>http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.lib-</u>

 $proxy.fullerton.edu/hww/results/results\_single\_fulltext.jhtml; hwwilsonid=ZZRLATLDL$ 

O00TQA3DIMSFGOADUNGIIV0

Fordham, D. (2001, September 1). Forecasting technology trends. Strategic Finance. Retrieved March 10, 2009 from <u>http://www.allbusiness.com/finance/3591198-1.html</u> Franklin, C. (2001, January). Fad Spotting: An industry obsession. InternetWeek, 843, p.32. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 66276864). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=66276864&sid=3&Fmt=3&clientId=17846&RQT=309 &VName=PQD

Garner, R. (1994, September). Bah, humbug! Computerworld, 28(38), 83. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 10618). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=10618&Fmt=7&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName= POD

<u>PQD</u>

- Glazer, R. (2007, Fall). Meta-Technologies and Innovation Leadership: Why there may be nothing new under the sun. California Management Review, 50(1), 120-143. Retrieved March 9, 2009, from Business Source Premier database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.libproxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=27341281&loginpage=Login.a</u> sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Hajime E. (2003, March). The suitability of technology forecasting/foresight methods for decision systems and strategy: A Japanese view. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Volume 70(3), 231-249, ISSN 0040-1625, DOI: 10.1016/S0040-1625(02)00194-4. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from (http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-45D18VB-1/2/99f79844e7f49af03ceaed83e14dc7d2)

Hines, A. (2008, September). Global Trends in Culture, Infrastructure, and Values. Futurist, 42(5), 18-23. Retrieved February 11, 2009, from Military & Government Collection database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u>proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=mth&AN=33306297&loginpage=Login.

asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Hyatt, J. (2008). The incrementalist (or, what's the small idea?). MIT Sloan Management Review, 49(4), 15-20. Retrieved March 9, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=1520405461&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=3</u>

09&VName=PQD

- Jones, B. (2009). The burden of knowledge and the "death of the Renaissance man": Is innovation getting harder? Review of Economic Studies, 76(1) 283-317 Retrieved March 4, 2009, from http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-937X.2008.00531.x , http://www3.interscience.wiley.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/cgibin/fulltext/121588572/HTMLSTART?CRETRY=1&SRETRY=0
- Kim, W. and Mauborgne, R. (1999). Strategy, value innovation, and the knowledge economy. Sloan Management Review, 40(3), 41-54. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 41054993). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.libproxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=41054993&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309</u> &VName=PQD
- Kurzweil, R. (2007, March 7). The law of accelerating returns. KurzweilAI.net. Retrieved March 8, 2009, from <u>http://www.kurzweilai.net/articles/art0134.html?printable=1</u>

Li, X., Hess, T., and Valacich, J. (2008, March). Why do we trust new technology? A study of initial trust formation with organizational information systems. The Journal of Strategic Information Systems, 17(1), 39-71, ISSN 0963-8687, DOI: 10.1016/j.jsis.2008.01.001.
Retrieved from February 12, 2009, from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VG3-4S08YGY-

<u>1/2/8b2fe70dfea720302e589a48ae659a98</u>)

- Linton, J. (2007, April). What is innovation, anyway? Circuits Assembly, 18(4), 18-20. Retrieved March 25, 2009, from <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=24700742&loginpage=Login.a</u> <u>sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>
- Michel, S., Brown, S., and Gallan, A. (2008, March 1). An expanded and strategic view of discontinuous innovations: deploying a service-dominant logic. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1), 54-66. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <a href="http://www.springerlink.com/content/d370n73101562451">http://www.springerlink.com/content/d370n73101562451</a>
- Miller, H. (1991). Information Technology: creation or evolution? Journal of Systems
  Management, 42(4), 23. Retrieved March 4, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database.
  (Document ID: 591904). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u>
  <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=591904&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&</u>

VName=PQD

Nolan, R. (1987, December). Finding new ways to use technology. Institutional Investor: Financial Technology Forum,55. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 905916). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=905916&sid=3&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VName=PQD</u>

- Nolan, R. (September, 1975). Thoughts about the fifth stage. ACM SIGMIS Database 7(2), 4 10. Retrieved March 28, 2009, from <u>http://doi.acm.org.lib-</u>proxy.fullerton.edu/10.1145/1017570.1017571
- Pearce, J. (2007, May). Semiotics: 3 simple steps to uncover the future. NZ Marketing Magazine , 26(4), 24-25. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from <u>http://www.archivesearch.co.nz/?webid=MKT&articleid=25221</u>
- Penttila, C. (2005, December). All Shook Up. Entrepreneur, 33(12), 112-113. Retrieved March 31, 2009, from Business Source Premier database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=18917328&loginpage=Login.a</u> <u>sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>
- Phaal, R., Farrukh, C., Probert, D. (2004). Technology roadmapping--A planning framework for evolution and revolution. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 71(1-2), 5-26.
  ISSN 0040-1625, DOI: 10.1016/S0040-1625(03)00072-6. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <a href="http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-493PD50-1/2/853b8097b63c2445d560f16bb662456d">http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V71-493PD50-1/2/853b8097b63c2445d560f16bb662456d</a>)

Pitkin, B. (2001). A historical perspective of technology and planning. Berkeley Planning Journal, 15, p.34-59. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from <u>http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/hww/results/results\_common.jhtml;hwwilsonid=XAZW0PRCB55CJ</u> QA3DIMSFGOADUNGIIV0

Porter, M. (1996, November). What is strategy? Harvard Business Review, 74(6), 61-78. Retrieved March 29, 2009, from Business Source Premier database. <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u>

proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=9611187954&loginpage=Logi n.asp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Powell, T., and Dent-Micallef, A. (1997). Information technology as competitive advantage: the role of human, business, and technology resources. Strategic Management Journal, 18(5), 375-405. Retrieved March 10, 2009, from <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199705)18:5<375::AID-SMJ876>3.0.CO;2-7">http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0266(199705)18:5<375::AID-SMJ876>3.0.CO;2-7</a>
- Prahalad, C., and Krishnan, M. (2002). The dynamic synchronization of strategy and information technology. MIT Sloan Management Review, 43(4), 24-33. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 144101011). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=144101011&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309&VNa</u>

me=PQD

Pringle, D., Drucker, J., and Ramstad, E. (2003, October 30). Cellphone makers pay a heavy toll for missing fads. Wall Street Journal (Eastern Edition), p. A.1. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 433714651). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> <u>proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=433714651&sid=4&Fmt=3&clientId=17846&RQT=30</u> 9&VName=PQD

Richard A D'Aveni. (1999). Strategic supremacy through disruption and dominance. Sloan Management Review, 40(3), 127-135. Retrieved March 27, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 41055274). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdlink?did=41055274&sid=1&Fmt=6&clientId=17846&RQT=309 &VName=PQD

Richardson, R. (2008, November). CE Prospectus 2009. Retail Merchandiser, 48(6), 16-18.

Retrieved February 12, 2009, from Business Source Premier database.

http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=36074911&loginpage=Login.a

sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Schwartz, P. (1992). Composing a plot for your scenario. Planning Review, 20, 4-8. Retrieved March 30, 2009, from OmniFile Full Text Mega database.

http://vnweb.hwwilsonweb.com.lib-

proxy.fullerton.edu/hww/jumpstart.jhtml?recid=0bc05f7a67b1790ec47ee399313995677c ea7df38e6674c637d2e5955f51339eea9797cc07cfe0c0& fmt=C\$3Citation\$yArticle

Citation in WilsonWeb

- Slater, S., and Mohr, J. (2006, January). Successful development and commercialization of technological innovation: insights based on strategy type. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 23(1), 26-33. Retrieved March 31, 2009, doi:10.1111/j.1540-5885.2005.00178.x <u>http://search.ebscohost.com.lib-</u> proxy.fullerton.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=buh&AN=19203519&loginpage=Login.a sp&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Specht, D., Kadlubski, A., and Behrens, S. (2007). Integration of strategic business planning and technology planning in globally operating companies by means of roadmapping.
  International Journal of Technology Intelligence and Planning. 3(2). Retrieved March 27, 2009, from <a href="http://www.ctw-congress.de/ifsam/download/track\_6/pap00631.pdf">http://www.ctw-congress.de/ifsam/download/track\_6/pap00631.pdf</a>
- Steven M Shugan (2004). The impact of advancing technology on marketing and academic research. Marketing Science, 23(4), 469-475. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from ABI/INFORM Global database. (Document ID: 758292891). <u>http://proquest.umi.com.lib-proxy.fullerton.edu/pqdweb?did=758292891&sid=5&Fmt=3&clientId=17846&RQT=30 9&VName=PQD</u>
- Yoon, B. (2008). On the development of a technology intelligence tool for identifying technology opportunity. Expert Systems with Applications 35(1-2), 124-135 Retrieved March 7, 2009 from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com.lib-</u>
  proxy.fullerton.edu/science?\_ob=ArticleURL&\_udi=B6V03-4P1X7GJ2&\_user=521375&\_coverDate=08%2F31%2F2008&\_rdoc=1&\_fmt=&\_orig=search&\_s
  ort=d&view=c&\_acct=C000059558&\_version=1&\_urlVersion=0&\_userid=521375&md
  5=26e36fc4bcbd0c85c3e4d7a3d23a60fb

Yu, C., and Tao, Y. (2009, February). Understanding business-level innovation technology adoption. Technovation, 29(2), 92-109. Retrieved March 7, 2009, from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V8B-4T7D8CN-</u>

<u>2/2/e2a2accea6166c948be17fa35f98dc15</u>